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DECISION AND ORDER
2
 

 

I.  Introduction 

 

Complainant Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) has appealed the written 

initial decision of Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) Richard C. Goodwin.
3
  Among his 

findings, the ALJ held that the failure of Respondent Sun Quest Executive Air Charter, 

Inc. (Sun Quest) to include in its flight and duty time records 50.4 hours of flights that 

one of its pilots made for the Los Angeles Police Department (LAPD) did not constitute a 

violation of 14 C.F.R. § 135.63(a)(4)(vii).
4
   

                                                 
1
 Materials filed in the FAA Hearing Docket (except for materials filed in security cases) 

are also available for viewing at the following Internet address:  www.regulations.gov.   

 
2
 The Administrator’s civil penalty decisions, along with indexes of the decisions, the rules 

of practice, and other information, are available on the Internet at the following address:   

www.faa.gov/about/office_org/headquarters_offices/agc/pol_adjudication/AGC400/ 

Civil_Penalty.  In addition, Thomson Reuters/West Publishing publishes Federal Aviation 

Decisions.  Finally, the decisions are available through LEXIS (TRANS library) and WestLaw 

(FTRAN-FAA database).  For additional information, see the Web site. 

 
3
 A copy of the ALJ’s initial decision is attached.   

 
4
 Section 135.63(a)(4)(vii) provides as follows: 

(a) each certificate holder shall keep at its principal business office or at 

other places approved by the Administrator, and shall make available for 

inspection by the Administrator the following – 

*     *    * 

(4) An individual record of each pilot used in operations under this part, 

http://www.regulations.gov/
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Section 135.63(a)(4)(vii) of the Federal Aviation Regulations (FAR) requires 

certificate holders who operate under 14 C.F.R. Part 1355 to “keep [a]n individual record 

of each pilot … including … the pilot’s flight time in sufficient detail to determine 

compliance with the flight time limitations.”  The FAR require certificate holders to 

count “other commercial flying” as flight time for the purpose of the flight time 

limitations.  See, e.g., 14 C.F.R. § 135.267(b) and (c)(2), which include “other 

commercial flying” in the amount of flight time that a Part 135 flight crewmember may 

not exceed.
6 

 

The FAA had argued that Sun Quest pilot Mark C. Smith’s flight time for the 

LAPD was “other commercial flying,” a record of which Sun Quest needed to keep.
7
  

The ALJ held that the LAPD flights involved public aircraft and were therefore not 

subject to FAA regulation.  To support his determination that the LAPD helicopter was a 

                                                                                                                                                 
including the following information: 

*     * * 

(vii) The pilot’s flight time in sufficient detail to determine compliance 

with the flight time limitations of this part.    

 
5
 Requirements for commuter and on demand operators are set forth in 14 C.F.R. 

Part 135. 
 
6
 Section 135.267(b) and (c)(2) provide: 

(b) Except as provided in paragraph (c) of this section, during any 24 consecutive 

hours the total flight time of the assigned flight when added to any other commercial 

flying by that flight crewmember may not exceed – (1) 8 hours for a flight crew 

consisting of one pilot; or (2) 10 hours for a flight crew consisting of two pilots qualified 

under this part for the operation being conducted. 

(c) A flight crewmember’s flight time may exceed the flight time limits of 

paragraph (b) of this section if the assigned flight time occurs during a regularly assigned 

duty period of no more than 14 hours and – … (2) If flight time is assigned during this 

period, that total flight time when added to any other commercial flying by the flight 

crewmember may not exceed – (i) 8 hours for a flight crew consisting of one pilot; or 

(ii) 10 hours for a flight crew consisting of two pilots ….  

(Emphasis added.) 

   
7
 The FAA did not allege that Sun Quest actually violated the flight time limitations – 

instead, it simply alleged that Sun Quest failed to record the pilot’s flight time for the LAPD.  
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public aircraft, the ALJ wrote that the LAPD was a governmental unit and that it owned 

and operated the helicopter flown by the Sun Quest pilot.  Further, the ALJ wrote, there 

was no evidence that the aircraft performed any activities other than police work. 

In addition, the ALJ held that: 

 Sun Quest did not violate Section 135.63(a)(4)(vii) by not tracking in the 

flight and duty time records as other commercial flying the 1.3-hour check 

ride that Smith administered on January 24, 2005; 
 

 Sun Quest violated Section 135.63(a)(4)(vii) by not tracking in the flight and 

duty time records as other commercial flying the 1.5-hour check ride that 

Smith gave to a company pilot on March 9, 2005; 
 

 Sun Quest’s records generally failed to satisfy Section 135.63(a)(4)(vii) 

regarding the flight time that it did track because while it recorded the total 

amount of time per flight, it did not record the time that each flight began and 

ended.   
 

 The FAA sought a $20,000 civil penalty in the amended complaint.  The ALJ 

assessed a $5,000 civil penalty for the violations that he found.   

The FAA only appealed from the ALJ’s finding regarding the LAPD flights, and 

Sun Quest did not appeal.  This decision affirms the ALJ’s decision in Sun Quest’s favor 

regarding the LAPD flights, but not for the reasons cited by the ALJ.  Instead, this 

decision holds that the FAA failed to prove that the flights were “other commercial 

flying” that Sun Quest was required to record under Section 135.63(a)(4)(vii) because the 

FAA failed to prove that the LAPD paid Smith for the flights.  As for the sanction, given 

that the FAA argues only that the sanction should be increased to $20,000 if this decision 

is in its favor (Appeal Brief at 27), which it is not, the civil penalty will remain as 

assessed by the ALJ, at $5,000. 
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II.  Facts 

The facts relevant to this appeal are as follows.8  During all relevant times, Sun 

Quest held an air carrier certificate and operated under 14 C.F.R. Part 135.  (Stip. ¶ 2.)  

Smith was the President, Chief Pilot, Check Pilot, and Line Captain for Sun Quest.  

(Amended Complaint & Amended Answer ¶ II, § 4.)  Sun Quest used Smith as a pilot in 

operations under Part 135.  (Id.) 

There is no disagreement that Smith also served as a police officer for the LAPD.  

(See Exhibit A to the FAA’s “Trial Brief Based on Stipulated Statement of Facts.”  

Exhibit A is a letter dated May 5, 2005, from the LAPD Chief of Police, stating that he 

was responding to the request of Sun Quest’s Principal Operations Inspector (POI) for 

“Officer” Smith’s flight records for the LAPD.  See also Amended Complaint & 

Amended Answer ¶ II, § 4, both stating that Smith was a police officer for the LAPD.)  

Smith’s work for the LAPD involved piloting a police helicopter owned and operated by 

the LAPD.  (Stip. ¶ 24.) 

During February 2005, Smith served as a police officer pilot for the LAPD on 

17 dates, with a total flight time for the month of 50.4 hours.  (Stip. ¶ 24, which 

incorporates Amended Complaint ¶ II, § 12.)  Sun Quest’s Part 135 flight and duty time 

records for Smith did not reflect any of this pilot flight time for the LAPD.  (Stip. ¶ 23.)  

The LAPD had operational control over the initiating, conducting, and terminating of all 

flights in its helicopters.  (Stip. ¶ 26.) 

 

                                                 
8
 The parties agreed, with the ALJ’s approval, to file a joint stipulation and then to submit 

briefs in which they argued their respective positions.   
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III.  Arguments on Appeal 

A.  The FAA’s Arguments 

The FAA’s arguments on appeal include the following.   

1. The ALJ erred in finding that the FAA does not have any jurisdiction over 

public aircraft operations.  (Appeal Brief at 6.) 

 

2. The ALJ erred in finding that the LAPD aircraft were public aircraft, 

because there was no evidence that the LAPD flights were public aircraft 

operations.  (Id. at 7.) 

 

3. Under the FAA’s interpretation of the term “other commercial flying,” 

flying in a public aircraft may be “other commercial flying” within the 

meaning of 14 C.F.R. § 135.267 if the pilot was paid for the flying.  (Id. at 

23.) 

 

4. Amendments to the statutory definition of “public aircraft” do not justify 

changing the FAA’s interpretation of the term “other commercial flying” 

to exclude all public flying (as opposed to excluding only military aircraft 

operations.) 

 

5. Sun Quest’s argument that it only had to track other commercial flying 

that it assigned fails because this argument is based on FAA legal 

interpretations involving rest requirements rather than flight time 

limitations. 

 

B.  Sun Quest’s Arguments 

 

Sun Quest’s counterarguments include the following. 

 

1. The LAPD flights involved public aircraft, and the Federal Aviation Act, 

as amended, gives the FAA the authority to regulate public aircraft 

regarding airspace, but not to regulate public aircraft when airspace is not 

at issue, as in the instant case. 

 

2. Under FAA legal interpretations, the LAPD flying was not “other 

commercial flying” for purposes of Sun Quest’s recordkeeping because 

Sun Quest did not assign the flying. 

 

3. The FAA’s interpretation of “other commercial flying,” which excludes 

only military flying, a subset of public aircraft flying, is incorrect because 

the statute exempts all public aircraft from FAA regulation, except for 

airspace regulation. 
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4. The FAA did not produce any evidence that Smith received any 

compensation for the LAPD flights. 

 

IV.  Discussion 

 The FAA is correct that it has jurisdiction over some public aircraft operations.9  

Regardless, the FAA’s appeal must be denied because the FAA failed to prove that 

Smith’s flying for the LAPD constituted “other commercial flying” within the meaning of 

14 C.F.R. § 135.267.  Hence, the FAA did not prove that Sun Quest violated 

Section 135.63(a)(4)(vii), as alleged, by failing to record Smith’s flight time for LAPD as 

“other commercial flying.” 

 The FAA’s own longstanding interpretation, which there is no reason to disturb,10 

is that “‘[o]ther commercial flying’ means any nonmilitary flying as a required 

                                                 
9
 For example, the Federal aviation statute provides:  “[T]he FAA Administrator shall … 

assign by regulation or order the use of the airspace necessary to ensure the safety of aircraft 

[“aircraft” includes both civil and public aircraft] ….”  49 U.S.C. § 40103(b)(1).  See also U.S. v. 

Christensen, 419 F.2d 1401, 1402 (9
th
 Cir. 1969), finding that FAA regulations requiring 

“aircraft” to comply with air traffic control instructions apply to “public aircraft.”  Further, 

49 U.S.C. § 44701 provides that the FAA Administrator shall promote safe flight of civil aircraft 

in air commerce.  Insofar as public aircraft operations may adversely affect the safety of civil 

aircraft, the FAA may regulate them under circumstances that will not be delineated here.  

Regardless, Sections 135.63(a)(4)(vii) and 135.267(b) and (c)(2), do not regulate public 

aircraft operations, but instead regulate civil aircraft operations.  The FAA’s case was against Sun 

Quest, a civil operator.  Hence, the FAA was not seeking to regulate public aircraft or an operator 

of public aircraft.  Consequently, there is no need to address the issue whether Sun Quest proved 

that Smith’s flights for the LAPD constituted public aircraft flights. 

 
10

 The Administrator permitted the parties to submit additional briefs (both initial and 

reply briefs) on whether the longstanding FAA interpretation of the term “other commercial 

flying” (as stated above, any nonmilitary flying, as a required crewmember, other than in air 

transportation, for which the crewmember is paid for his or her services) had changed or should 

be changed, given statutory changes in the definition of “public aircraft.”  Sun Quest, FAA Order 

No. 2011-1 at 2 (January 5, 2011).  Specifically, the Administrator inquired whether the 

definition of “other commercial flying” should be changed to exclude any public aircraft flying, 

rather than excluding only military aircraft flying, which is a subset of public aircraft flying.  In 

its additional brief, the FAA asserts that no statutory changes justify a change in the definition of 

“other commercial flying.”  The FAA points out that the legislative history shows that in the past, 

Congress has treated military flying differently than non-military public aircraft for purposes of 

flight time limitations because military flying is essential to the national defense.  Sun Quest does 

not point to any statutory changes that justify a change in the definition of “other commercial 

flying.”   
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crewmember, other than in air transportation, for which the crewmember is paid for his or 

her services.”11  Letter from Assistant Chief Counsel for Regulations to 

Richard Martinelli, 2009 WL 737336 (March 11, 2009); Letter from Assistant Chief 

Counsel for Regulations to Ryan Koepp, 2008 WL 3200870 (March 6, 2008); Letter from 

Assistant Chief Counsel for Regulations to James W. Johnson, 2003 WL 25427850 

(May 9, 2003); Letter from Assistant Chief Counsel for Regulations to Jeff J. Jacober 

(June 24, 1991); and Letter from Assistant Chief Counsel for Regulations to Manager, 

NE-FSDO-03 (October 31, 1990). 

 The FAA failed to prove the element of compensation – specifically, that the 

LAPD paid Smith for his LAPD flying.  Although the ALJ found that “Smith was a 

required crewmember and received payment” (Initial Decision at 6), there was no 

stipulation or admission that Smith was compensated for his work with the LAPD.  As 

                                                 
 

11
 Sun Quest argues for an additional element of “other commercial flying” – that the 

flying be assigned by the certificate holder.  However, the numerous FAA interpretations defining 

“other commercial flying” do not include “flying for the same employer” as part of the definition. 

 Also, as the FAA points out, FAA interpretations indicate that flying performed for other 

employers can in fact be “other commercial flying.”  For example, one interpretation states that 

the following types of flying, at least some of which would be for other employers, would count 

as “other commercial flying” – executive pilot services, aerial application, sight-seeing flights, 

carriage of parachutists, banner and glider towing, game survey, power and pipeline patrol.  

Letter from Chief, Air Carrier and General Operating Branch, AGC-22, to AFS-200 n.9, 1975 

WL 342744 (August 1, 1975). 

 Sun Quest quotes from the following interpretation: 

The rule regarding “other commercial flying” is that it may not be 

conducted during required rest periods, if it is assigned by the certificate holder.  

Specifically, the prohibition against “other commercial flying” during the 

required rest period applies to situations where the certificate holder requires the 

flying. 

Letter from Acting Assistant Chief Counsel, Regulations and Enforcement, to Manager, FAA 

Lincoln Flight Standards District Office, 1989 WL 1631930 (August 9, 1989).  (Emphasis added 

by Sun Quest.) 

 The cited portion of the interpretation is not on point – it deals only with whether “other 

commercial flying” may be performed during a rest period, which is not the issue here.  

Moreover, as this interpretation makes clear, “other commercial flying” that precedes Part 135 

flying, regardless of whether it was assigned by another certificate holder, must be counted 

against the daily flight time limitations. 
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Sun Quest points out, Smith’s work for the LAPD may have been on a volunteer basis, 

like that of volunteer firefighters.12  The FAA simply did not bear its burden of proving 

compensation to the pilot, an element of “other commercial flying.”  

 In conclusion, the FAA failed to show that Smith’s LAPD flying met all the 

elements of “other commercial flying.”  Consequently, the FAA failed to show that Sun 

Quest violated 14 C.F.R. § 135.63(a)(4)(vii), as alleged, regarding Smith’s flights for the 

LAPD.  The FAA’s appeal is denied.13 

      [Original signed by J. Randolph Babbitt] 

      J. RANDOLPH BABBITT 

      ADMINISTRATOR 

      Federal Aviation Administration 

                                                 
12

 Judicial notice is taken of the LAPD Web site, which indicates that the LAPD does in 

fact use volunteer police officers: 

 

The Los Angeles Police Reserve Corps is comprised of community members 

who volunteer their time to fulfill many of the roles handled by full-time sworn 

police officers. Reserve officers receive the same training as full-time officers 

and work alongside them in every aspect of Department operations. 

 

http://www.lapdonline.org/join_the_team/content_basic_view/542 

 
13

 Under the circumstances, there is no need to address any of the other issues raised by 

the parties on appeal.  

http://www.lapdonline.org/join_the_team/content_basic_view/542

















